Kidnapping Against Jailers

IN THE NAME AND BY AUTHORITY OF 

THE STATE OF TEXAS:

PRIVATE 

I, _________________, hereinafter referred to as "Complaint," being duly sworn, do state upon my oath that I have personal knowledge I have good reason to believe and do believe based upon the following information: 

On the ____ day of ___________, 200_, Complainant was arrested by  ________________________, hereinafter referred to as “arresting officer,” Complainant was searched, handcuffed, and placed in a patrol car.  After making the arrest of complainant, arresting officer, took complainant directly to the _____________ jail, where complainant was incarcerated, held for an ____ hours/days before being brought before a magistrate

Arresting officer had a specific duty as prescribed under Article 14.06 Texas Code of Criminal Procedure to take complainant directly to he nearest magistrate.  In as much as arresting officer neither took complainant to the nearest magistrate and made no due diligent effort to locate a magistrate, arresting officer violated a law relating to his/her office and, thereby, became a criminal trespasser such that the arrest became invalid ab inito and all further incarceration an act of kidnapping as defined by Article 20.03 Texas Code of Criminal Procedure.  Further, in as much as arresting officer was, at the time of committing the offense, displaying a deadly weapon and the act was committed in order to facilitate the commission of at least one felony, said act was one of Aggravated Kidnapping as stipulated by Article 20.04 Texas Code of Criminal Procedure.  

After arrest, complainant was transferred to the custody of the jail where the jailers continued the illegal incarceration of complainant.  (see statement of probable cause attached and included in this document, in its entirety by this reference)

and I charge that heretofore, and before the making and filing of this complaint, on or before the   ____ day of ___________, _____, in the County of ________ and State of Texas, jailers, did then and there unlawfully and willfully violate Section 20.04 Texas Penal Code, titled Aggravated Kidnapping, against the peace and dignity of the State.  


Statement of probable cause

Made and sworn to by : ___________________________

Fear of our founders

 It was  fear of our founders that the public and police would fall out of favor, one with the other.  In order to avoid such an outcome particular prescriptions were put in place to protect the public and the police from the tendency of power to increase itself and of apathy motivated by fear.  To insure against these, magistrates were put in place and given the key to the jailhouse door. It was  never intended that police have the power to arrest and imprison.  While police have been given the power to arrest, they are required by Article 14.06 Texas Code of Criminal Procedure to take the person directly to the nearest magistrate and explain themselves.  

Art. 14.06. Must take offender before magistrate

“Except as provided by Subsection (b), in each case enumerated in this Code, the person making the arrest or the person having custody of the person arrested shall take the person arrested or have him taken without unnecessary delay, but not later than 48 hours after the person is arrested, before the magistrate who may have ordered the arrest, before some magistrate of the county where the arrest was made without an order, or, if necessary to provide more expeditiously to the person arrested the warnings described by Article 15.17 of this Code, before a magistrate in a county bordering the county in which the arrest was made.  The magistrate shall immediately perform the duties described in Article 15.17 of this Code.”

This prescription was from no lack of trust in the police, but rather, was about the perception of the people.  If the people can be confident that, after any arrest the officer would be required to take the arrested person directly to a magistrate and explain himself, the citizen would have no reason to fear the officer.  

[*343]  The purpose of this impressively pervasive requirement of criminal procedure is plain.  A democratic society, in which respect for the dignity of all men is central, naturally guards against the misuse of the law enforcement process.  Zeal in tracking down crime is not in itself an assurance  of soberness of judgment.  Disinterestedness in law enforcement does not alone prevent disregard of cherished liberties.  Experience has therefore counseled that safeguards must be provided against the dangers of the overzealous as well as the despotic.  The awful instruments of the criminal law cannot be entrusted to a single functionary.  The complicated process of criminal justice is therefore divided into different parts, responsibility for which is separately vested in the various participants upon whom the criminal law relies for its vindication.  Legislation  [*344]  such as this, requiring that the police must with reasonable promptness show legal cause for detaining arrested persons, constitutes an important safeguard -- not only in assuring protection for the innocent but also in securing conviction of the guilty by methods that commend themselves to a progressive and self-confident society.  For this procedural requirement checks resort to those reprehensible practices known as the "third degree" which, though universally rejected as indefensible, still find their way into use.  It aims to avoid all the evil implications of secret interrogation of persons accused of crime.  It reflects not a sentimental but a sturdy view of law enforcement. It outlaws easy but self-defeating ways in which brutality is substituted for brains as an instrument of crime detection. n8 A statute carrying such purposes is expressive of a general legislative policy to which courts should not be heedless when appropriate situations call for its application.  U.S v McNabb, 318 U.S. 332,343 *; 63 S. Ct. 608, **;87 L. Ed. 819, ***; 1943 U.S. LEXIS 1280

Over time, through a series of seemingly minor adjustments toward administrative convenience and adjudicative expediency, local policing agencies have evolved practices and procedures so far removed from the rule of law one reading the law and comparing the policies will think they have walked through Alice’s looking glass.  

Our Legislators, in their wisdom, considering that we already have learned counsel in public employ in the form of prosecuting attorneys, directed that they give legal advise to the police and inferior courts.  This was a prescription for just the disaster we presently experience.  

NO REASON TO FEAR FROM Complainant 

Complainant, at the time of arrest, gave police no reason to fear for their safety from Complainant. A search of Complainant was made subsequent to arrest where no weapons were found; Complainant 's hands were cuffed with no effort to resist; neither did Complainant offer any verbal threat of physical resistance or retaliation.  When directed to the police car, Complainant complied without physical resistance.  

NO INTERVENING CIRCUMSTANCES NECESSITATING DELAY

In the instant cause, there was no flood, storm, riot, or any other intervening circumstance to necessitate the officer's immediate attention, which would justify a delay in bringing Complainant before a magistrate.  Neither did Complainant observe the officer, through the use of his police radio or cell phone, make any attempt to locate a magistrate for the purpose of securing jurisdiction to continue to hold Complainant.  

“In endeavoring to take the arrested person before the magistrate, the officer must expend all the effort that a highly cautious person would employ in the same circumstances.”[FN85] Robinson v. Lovell, 238 S.W.2d 294 (Tex. Civ. App. Galveston 1951), writ refused n.r.e.

In the instant cause, the arresting officer made no effort to locate a magistrate, but rather, acted in furtherance of standing policy which directed officers to secret persons arrested, with or without a warrant, from the nearest magistrate and take them directly to jail.  

DUTY TO TAKE BEFORE MAGISTRATE WITHOUT UNNECESSARY DELAY

Article 14.06 Texas Code of Criminal Procedure directs the arresting officer to take the person arrested, with or without a warrant to the nearest magistrate.  

Art. 14.06. Must take offender before magistrate

Except as provided by Subsection (b), in each case enumerated in this Code, the person making the arrest or the person having custody of the person arrested shall take the person arrested or have him taken without unnecessary delay, but not later than 48 hours after the person is arrested, before the magistrate who may have ordered the arrest, before some magistrate of the county where the arrest was made without an order, or, if necessary to provide more expeditiously to the person arrested the warnings described by Article 15.17 of this Code, before a magistrate in a county bordering the county in which the arrest was made.  The magistrate shall immediately perform the duties described in Article 15.17 of this Code.

Without considering the lawfulness of the warrantless arrest, for the purpose of jurisdiction, this particular argument will only consider the actions subsequent to arrest.  The immediate issue addresses the duty of the arresting officer to take the accused before a magistrate to secure jurisdiction such that the State may rightfully continue to restrict Complainant at liberty.  

“ [28]   
Maximum protection of individual rights could be assured by requiring a magistrate's review of the factual justification prior to any arrest, but such a requirement would constitute an intolerable handicap for legitimate law enforcement. Thus, while the Court has expressed a preference for the use of arrest warrants when feasible, Beck v. Ohio, at 96; Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 479-482 (1963), it has never invalidated an arrest supported by probable cause solely because the officers failed to secure a warrant. See Ker v. California, 374 U.S. 23 (1963); Draper v. United States, 358 U.S. 307 (1959); Trupiano v. United States, 334 U.S. 699, 705 (1948). 

[29]    Under this practical compromise, a policeman's on-the-scene assessment of probable cause provides legal justification for arresting a person suspected of crime, and for a brief period of detention to take the administrative steps incident to arrest. Once the suspect is in custody, however, the reasons that justify dispensing with the magistrate's neutral judgment evaporate. There no longer is any danger that the suspect will escape or commit further crimes while the police submit their evidence to a magistrate. And, while the State's reasons for taking summary action subside, the suspect's need for a neutral determination of probable cause increases significantly. The consequences of prolonged detention may be more serious than the interference occasioned by arrest. Pretrial confinement may imperil the suspect's job, interrupt his source of income, and impair his family relationships. See R. Goldfarb, Ransom 32-91 (1965); L. Katz, Justice Is the Crime 51-62 (1972. Even pretrial release may be accompanied by burdensome conditions that effect a significant restraint of liberty. See, e. g., 18 U. S. C. 3146 (a)(2, (5). When the stakes are this high, the detached judgment of a neutral magistrate is essential if the Fourth Amendment is to furnish meaningful protection from unfounded interference with liberty. Accordingly, we hold that the Fourth Amendment requires a judicial determination of probable cause as a prerequisite to extended restraint of liberty following arrest.” GERSTEIN v. PUGH ET AL, 95 S. Ct. 854, 420 U.S. 103, 43 L. Ed. 2d 54, 1975.SCT.40602

The arresting officer failed to take Complainant directly to the nearest magistrate.  While certain delays can be expected in certain circumstances, simple failure to seek the authority envisioned by Gerstien v Pugh above, may not be construed as a proximate cause of reasonable delay.  The seminal case on this Complainant under Texas State Law is Heath v Boyd, 141 Tex. 569; 175 S.W.2d 214; 1943 Tex. LEXIS 370.  

“Moreover, if Heath's arrest had been authorized by the statutes, his subsequent detention as pleaded proved would make a case of false imprisonment against Boyd.  The undisputed facts are that after his arrest Heath rode with the sheriff to the former's car, which he then entered and drove several miles to the courthouse, followed by Boyd.  There he was detained in Boyd's office from one to three hours, while Boyd was seeking advice by telephone as to what to do, in the face of a plain statutory command as to [***13]  what must be done in all cases of arrest without warrant.  Art. 217, C.C.P., 1925, provides, "I each case enumerated in this chapter, the person making the arrest shall immediately take the person arrested * * before the nearest magistrate where the arrest was made without an order." Substantially the same requirement appears in Art. 325, C.C.P., 1925, and Art. 487, P.C., 1925.  Presumably, there was a magistrate in Mertzon, the county seat. Yet Boyd offers no reason why he did not take Heath before that official.  Neither in his pleadings nor in his testimony does he suggest that a magistrate was not reasonably available, although the arrest and detention all occurred between 8 o'clock in the morning and noon.  If he had taken Heath to that official, he could have gotten the information and assistance he was seeking by telephone. He was under no obligation to seek advice or aid from Johnson.  He was under a positive duty immediately to seek a magistrate.  That such failure, unexcused, makes a case of false imprisonment, as a matter of law, is held by all the authorities.  Newby v. Gunn et al, 74 Texas, 455, 12 S.W. 67; McBeath v. Campbell, 12 S.W. (2d) 118; Alamo Downs, Inc., et [***14]  al v. Briggs (Civ. App.), 106 S.W. (2d) 733 (er. dism.); Box v. Fluitt (Civ. App.), 47 S.W. (2d) 1107; Maddox v. Hudgeons (Civ. App.), 72 S.W. 414 (er. ref.);  [**218]  Karner et al v. Stump (Civ. App.), 34 S.W. 656; Petty v. Morgan et al (Civ. App.), 116 S.W. 141; Bishop v. Lucy et al (Civ. App.) 50 S.W. 1029; 35 C.J.S., p. 546, sec. 31.”   Heath v Boyd, 141 Tex. 569; 175 S.W.2d 214; 1943 Tex. LEXIS 370

The arresting officer in this case made no due diligent effort to locate a magistrate. 

 “Although the failure to take the plaintiff before a magistrate would have been excused if good grounds had existed for the belief that a magistrate was not available, such was not the case since the officers made no attempt to determine whether the magistrate was or would make himself available.” Roberts v Bohac, 574 F2d 1232

Irrespective of any other states, Texas has specific legislation concerning this requirement to take the accused before a magistrate.  Not only must the arresting officer exhaust the available magistrates in the county, the consideration of the availability of a magistrate must be extended to include every surrounding county (see Texas Code of Criminal Procedure Article 14.06 supra).  

The record offers, as the government's only justification, evidence that the magistrate, who issued the warrants, advised of his unavailability after the early evening of Friday, September 8, 1989. There are three other magistrates in the District. The record is bereft of any evidence as to their availability. Likewise, the record is bereft of any evidence as to the availability of any of the district Judges. n5 Absent evidence of other than the unavailability of the duty magistrate (the propriety of which is not here questioned), there is no basis to find that the delay for the entire period from [*20]  the arrest to presentment was necessary. To be sure, it was a weekend. The court was closed. But those facts do not entitle the government to presume the absence of an obligation to try to arrange the appearance of an arrestee before one of the other possible judicial officers. The law remains a force in life even outside usual business hours and all judicial officers have the obligation to respond to the needs of parties as they are mandated by the law. Complainant to their reasonable non-judicial activities, all judicial officers stand ready to fulfill that obligation. Here, the government has not shown the unavailability of all the possible judicial officers. The obligation of complying with the law lies with the government, which thus has the burden of proving that an arrestee was brought before a judicial officer without unnecessary delay. Its proof of the unavailability of one judicial officer does not prove that the delay to the next regular business hours, some sixty to sixty-five hours later, did not constitute unnecessary delay if it does not exhaust the possibility of an appearance before one of the other judicial officers in the district. See United States v. Colon, 835 [*21]  F.2d 27, 30-31 (2d Cir. 1987).  UNITED STATES  v. MORGAN, et al. 1990 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6206

 
The arresting officer, acting in accordance with established police policy, took Complainant directly to jail having made no effort to locate a magistrate for the purposes stipulated by Article 14.06 and the federal requirement articulated by Gerstien v Pugh supra. 

No due diligent effort to locate magistrate

For the purpose of argument, if the original stop had been proper, the arresting officer became a trespasser ab inito by violating laws relating to his/her office subsequent to arrest.  The arresting, after securing Complainant in custody, made no due diligent effort to locate a magistrate.  After securing Complainant such that there was no personal safety threat to the officer from Complainant and no threat of escape, any authority of officer to continue to hold Complainant evaporated (see Gerstien v Pugh supra) and officer had duty to make a due diligent effort to locate a magistrate in the county in which Complainant was arrested, failing that, to make an effort to locate a magistrate within an adjoining county for the purpose of securing authority to continue to hold complainant in the form of a warrant issued by an examining magistrate under Article 16.17 Texas Code of Criminal Procedure.  Having made no such effort, the arresting officer became a criminal trespasser on the rights of Complainant, and therefore, violated a law relating to his/her office (see Section 39.03 Texas Penal Code).  Even if the original arrest were proper, at this point the officer became a trespasser ab initio.  

Under the doctrine of trespass ab initio, where a party exceeds an authority given by law, the party loses the benefit of the justification and is considered a trespasser ab initio, although to a certain extent the party followed the authority given. The law will then operate retrospectively to defeat all acts done under the color of lawful authority. American Mortg. Corp. v. Wyman 41 S.W.2d 270 (Tex. Civ. App. Austin 1931  Thus, a person who enters on real property lawfully pursuant to a conditional or restricted consent and remains after his or her right to possession terminates and demand is made for his or her removal becomes a trespasser from the beginning, and the law will then operate retrospectively to defeat all acts done by him under color of lawful authority. Williams v. Garnett, 608 S.W.2d 794 (Tex. Civ. App. Waco 1980).


The rule applies to the acts of sheriffs and other officers, as well as to the conduct of private individuals. American Mortg. Corp. v. Wyman

As there is no false imprisonment statute in Texas, the appropriate statute is titled Kidnapping (see Section 20.03 Texas Penal Code).  In as much as the act of Kidnapping in the instant cause was committed toward the furtherance of the commission of a felony (as will be demonstrated below), the officer’s act was aggravated.  Further, in as much as the perpetrator of the act of  Kidnapping was displaying a deadly weapon at the time, the act must be considered an act in violation of Section 20.04 Texas Penal Code, titled Aggravated Kidnapping.

Jailer acting in concert and collusion

The above alleges acts by the arresting officer.  After the arrest and illegal transport to the jail, the jailers who took constructive control of complainant become equally culpable along with the arresting officer.  

§ 7.02.  CRIMINAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR CONDUCT OF ANOTHER.

(a)  A person is criminally responsible for an offense committed by  the conduct of another if: 

(1) 
acting with the kind of culpability required for  the offense, he causes or aids an innocent or nonresponsible person  to engage in conduct prohibited by the definition of the offense; 


(2) 
acting with intent to promote or assist the  commission of the offense, he solicits, encourages, directs, aids,  or attempts to aid the other person to commit the offense;  or 


(3)  
having a legal duty to prevent commission of the  offense and acting with intent to promote or assist its commission,  he fails to make a reasonable effort to prevent commission of the  offense. 

(b) 
If, in the attempt to carry out a conspiracy to commit  one felony, another felony is committed by one of the conspirators,  all conspirators are guilty of the felony actually committed,  though having no intent to commit it, if the offense was committed  in furtherance of the unlawful purpose and was one that should have  been anticipated as a result of the carrying out of the conspiracy. 

The jailers, in this cause, regardless of good faith, are responsible for the outcome of their actions.  The standard argument in this type of case is the Nurenberg Defense, “I was only following orders.”  

Leger v Warren 57 NE 506 states: 

“To afford protection to the officer or person making the arrest, the authority must be strictly pursued; and no unreasonable delay in procuring a proper warrant for the prisoner’s detention can be excused or tolerated.  Any other rule would leave the power open to great abuse and oppression.”

That the arrest having been made without a warrant, it was necessary that the proper steps should be taken to prevent the further detention of the prisoner from becoming unlawful, for unless those steps were taken, all legal protection for such arrest ceased, and the arresting officers became wrongdoers from the beginning, liable, as such, equally with those by whom the unlawful imprisonment was continued; that if the arresting officers chose to relay on some other person to perform that required duty, they took upon themselves  the risk of it being performed, and unless it was done in a proper time, their liability to the person imprisoned was not lessened or affected."    Leger v Warren 57 NE 506
It has been held that good faith of the officer is not relevant to culpability for the acts committed.  It is the responsibility of each officer, when exercising authority which effects the rights of the citizens who empower and employ them, that they know the law concerning the exercise of said authority.  

Take the case of a local officer who persists in enforcing a type of ordinance which the Court has held invalid as violative of the guarantees of free speech or freedom of worship. Or a local official continues to select juries in a manner which flies in the teeth of decisions of the Court. If those acts are done willfully, how can the officer possibly claim that he had no fair warning that his acts were prohibited by the statute? He violates the statute not merely because he has a bad purpose but because he acts in defiance of announced rules of law. He who defies a  [*105]  decision interpreting the Constitution knows precisely what he is doing. If sane, he hardly may be heard to say that he knew not what he did. Of course, willful conduct cannot make definite that which is undefined. But willful violators of constitutional requirements, which have been defined, certainly are in no position to say that they had no adequate advance notice that they would be visited with punishment. When they act willfully in the sense in which we use the word, they act in open defiance or in reckless disregard of a constitutional requirement which has been made specific and definite. When they are convicted for so acting, they are not punished for violating an unknowable something. Screws v US 325 U.S. 91 1945 

The most serious problem here is not good or bad faith of the jailers; the problem is blind following of authority when so doing violates the laws of the sovereigns.  Every jailer, in the instant casue, who participated in the illegal incarceration of complainant, is culpable for all the acts of all others involved in the illegal activity.  

But the general rule was stated in Ellis v. United States, 206 U.S. 246, 257, as follows: "If a man intentionally adopts certain conduct in certain circumstances known to him, and that conduct is forbidden by the law under those circumstances, he intentionally breaks the law in the only sense in which the law ever considers intent." And see Horning v. District of   Columbia, 254 U.S. 135, 137; Nash v. United States, 229 U.S. 373, 377.

If this sounds serious, indeed it is.  If this sounds as if it will cause great difficulty to officers who are otherwise acting in the best of faith, it will.  But it should be considered, between indictment and eventual adjudication, there are a number of steps designed to protect those who act in good faith and the grand jury should trust the rest of the criminal justice system to sort out the details and protect those who need protection.  Our failure to hold public officials responsible for their improper acts have lead us to the mess we now have.  We cant blame the officers; we must blame ourselves for lacking the fortitude to do the right thing, even when it is hard.  It is the duty of the grand jury to find an indictment, to send a message to all officials that the masters hold the servants to the same rule of law the servants enforce against their masters.  


Jurat





Signed and sworn before me __________________, on this day, the _____ day of _________, 2008.  


 Signed:    _____________________________








Sign: ________________________________


Printed: _____________________________


Address: _____________________________


City, ST Zip: _________________________


Phone: ______________________________








Sign: ______________________________


Printed: ___________________________


Address: ___________________________


City, ST Zip: _______________________


Phone: ____________________________








Jurat





Signed and sworn before me __________________, on this day, 


the _____ day of _________, 2008.


Signed:    _____________________________
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